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I. INTRODUCTION

1. The Appeals Chamber of the International Criminal Tribunal for the Prosecution of Persons
Responsible for Genocide and Other Serious Violations of International Humanitarian Law
Committed in the Territory of Rwanda and Rwandan Citizens Responsible for Genocide and Other
Such Violations Commiitted in the Territory of Neighbouring States between 1 January 1994 and 31
December 1994 (“Appeals Chamber” and “Tribunal”, respectively) is seized of appeals by Simon
Bikindi (“Appellant”) and the Prosecution against the Judgement rendered on 2 December 2008 in
the case of The Prosecutor v. Simon Bikindi (*“Trial Judgement”) by Trial Chamber III of the
Tribunal (“Trial Chamber”).!

A. Background

2. The Appellant, Simon Bikindi, was born on 28 September 1954 in Rwerere commune,
Gisenyi prefecture, Rwanda.” In 1994, he was a composer and singer and worked at the Ministry of

Youth and Association Movements of the Government of Rwanda.’

3. The Appellant was tried on the basis of an amended indictment dated 15 June 2005
(“Amended Indictment™). The Trial Chamber convicted him pursuant to Articles 2(3)(c) and 6(1) of
the Statute of the Tribunal (“Statute”) for direct and public incitement to commit genocide (Count
4), based on public exhortations to kill Tutsis which he made on the Kivumu-Kayove road towards
the end of June 1994.* The Trial Chamber acquitted the Appellant of all other charges.5 It imposed a
sentence of 15 years’ imprisonment, with credit being given for time already served following his
arrest in The Netherlands, on 12 June 2001.°

! The Prosecutor v. Simon Bikindi, Case No. ICTR-01-72-T, Judgement, 2 December 2008 (“Trial Judgement”). For
ease of reference, two annexes are appended to this Judgement: Annex A: Procedural Background; Annex B: Cited
Materials/Defined Terms.

? Trial Judgement, para. 4.

3 Trial Judgement, para. 4.

* Trial Judgement, paras. 426, 441.

® Trial Judgement, paras. 407, 414, 416, 432, 440, 441.

® Trial Judgement, paras. 459-461. The Appeals Chamber notes, proprio motu, that there is a discrepency in the Trial
Judgement as to the date of Bikindi’s arrest in The Netherlands. The Trial Judgement refers to both 12 July 2001 and 12
June 2001. See Trial Judgement, paragraphs 6 and 459 respectively. See also paragraph 3 of Annex A. The Appeals
Chamber notes that the Registry has confirmed that Bikindi was in fact arrested on 12 July 2001. See Interoffice
Memorandum from K. Afande to K. Moghalu dated 12 July 2001, Ref. ICTR/JUD-11-6-2-178. The Appeals Chamber
will address this matter further in Section IV.D of this Judgement (Credit for Time Served in Detention), infra.

1
Case No. ICTR-01-72-A j/— 18 March 2010
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B. The Appeals

4, The Appellant appeals his conviction and his sentence.” He requests as relief that his
conviction be overturned, or, should it be upheld, that the Appeals Chamber order a reduction in his

SCl’ltCnCC.8

5. The Prosecution responds that all grounds of appeal raised by the Appellant should be
dismissed.” It submits that the Appellant has failed to demonstrate that the Trial Chamber
committed any error of law or fact under Article 24 of the Statute which would warrant the

intervention of the Appeals Chamber with regard to either his conviction or his sentence. '’

6. The Prosecution appeals against the sentence imposed by the Trial Chamber. The
Prosecution contends that the Trial Chamber erred in law and in fact, and abused its discretionary
power, by arbitrarily imposing a “manifestly inadequate and disproportionate” sentence.'!’ It
requests that the Appeals Chamber revise the sentence and impose a sentence of imprisonment for

the remainder of the Appellant’s life.'?

7. The Appellant objects to the ground of appeal raised by the Prosecution.® He contends that
the Prosecution has not demonstrated either that the Trial Chamber abused its discretion in
sentencing him, or that the offence for which he was convicted merits a sentence of life
imprisonment.'* He further submits that there is no error on the part of the Trial Chamber which
would fairly lead to the imposition of such a sentence, and that any other increase in his sentence by

the Appeals Chamber acting proprio motu would not be justified.'”

8. The Appeals Chamber heard oral arguments regarding these appeals on 30 September 2009.
Having considered the written and oral submissions of the parties, the Appeals Chamber hereby

renders its Judgement.

7 See Bikindi's Notice of Appeal, filed on 31 December 2008 (“Bikindi’s Notice of Appeal”), pp. 1, 9. See also Defence
Appellant’s Brief, 16 March 2009; [Re-filed] Defence Appellant’s Brief, 19 March 2009, attached to Corrigendum to
Defence Appellant’s Brief, 19 March 2009. The term “Bikindi’s Appellant's Brief” herein refers to the re-filed version
of the Appellant’s Brief, which the Appeals Chamber considers to be the corrected version. See also AT. 30 September
2009 pp. 9, 20-24, 27.

® Bikindi’s Notice of Appeal, pp. 8, 9, 11, 13.

? See Prosecutor’s Respondent’s Brief, filed on 27 April 2009 (“Prosecution’s Respondent’s Brief”), paras. 4, 9, 10, 17,
166 167.

' Prosecution’s Respondent’s Brief, para. 166.

"' Prosecutor’s Notice of Appeal, filed on 31 December 2008, paras. 1, 2 (“Prosecution’s Notice of Appeal™);
Proseculor s Appellant’s Brief, filed on 28 January 2009, paras. 4, 18, 53 (“Prosecution’s Appellant’s Brief™).

? Prosecution’s Appellant s Brief, paras. 5, 36, 54. See also id., paras. 34, 41. In its Notice of Appeal, the Prosecution
requested, as a relief, “the reversal of the decision of the Trial Chamber [on sentencing] and the imposition upon [the
Appellant] of an appropriate sentence in the range of 30 years and imprisonment for the remainder of his life.” See
Prosecutlon s Notice of Appeal, para. 3.

* Defence Respondent’s Brief, filed 20 February 2009 (“Bikindi’s Respondent’s Brief ), para. 3.

Case No. ICTR-01-72-A
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II. STANDARDS OF APPELLATE REVIEW

9. The Appeals Chamber recalls the applicable standards of appellate review pursuant to
Article 24 of the Statute. The Appeals Chamber reviews only errors of law which invalidate the

decision of the Trial Chamber and errors of fact which have occasioned a miscarriage of justice.'®

10.  Regarding errors of law, the Appeals Chamber has stated:

Where a party alleges that there is an error of law, that party must advance arguments in support of
the submission and explain how the error invalidates the decision. However, if the appellant’s
arguments do not support the contention, that party does not automatically lose its point since the
Appeals Chamber may step in and, for other reasons, find in favour of the contention that there is
an error of law.

11.  Where the Appeals Chamber finds an error of law in the trial judgement arising from the
application of an incorrect legal standard, it will articulate the correct legal interpretation and
review the relevant factual findings of the Trial Chamber accordingly. In so doing, the Appeals
Chamber not only corrects the legal error, but, when necessary, also applies the correct legal
standard to the evidence contained in the trial record and determines whether it is itself convinced
beyond reasonable doubt as to the factual finding challenged by the appellant before that finding

may be confirmed on appeal.'®

12.  Regarding errors of fact, it is well established that the Appeals Chamber will not lightly

overturn findings of fact made by a Trial Chamber:

Where the Defence alleges an erroneous finding of fact, the Appeals Chamber must give deference
to the Trial Chamber that received the evidence at trial, and it will only interfere in those findings
where no reasonable trier of fact could have reached the same finding or where the finding is
wholly erroneous. Furthermore, the erroneous finding will be revoked or revised only if the error
occasioned a miscarriage of justice.'®

13. A party cannot merely repeat on appeal arguments that did not succeed at trial, unless it can
demonstrate that the Trial Chamber’s rejection of those arguments constituted an error warranting

the intervention of the Appeals Chamber.?’ Arguments which do not have the potential to cause the

' Bikindi’s Respondent’s Brief, para. 3.
5 - Bikindi’s Respondent’s Brief, para. 3.

' Zigiranyirazo Appeal Judgement, para. 8. See also Karera Appeal Judgement, para. 7; Muvunyi Appeal Judgement,
Para 8; Milosevic Appeal Judgement, para. 12.

Zigiranyirazo Appeal Judgement, para. 9. See also Karera Appeal Judgement, para. 8; Muvunyi Appeal Judgement,
Para 9, citing Ntakirutimana Appeal Judgement, para. 11 (citations omitted).

Zigiranyirazo Appeal Judgement, para. 10. See also Karera Appeal Judgement, para. 9; MiloSevi¢ Appeal Judgement,

ara. 14.
P Zigiranyirazo Appeal Judgement, para. 11. See also Karera Appeal Judgement, para. 10; Muvunyi Appeal
Judgemem para. 10, citing Krsti¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 40 (citations omitted).

Zigiranyirazo Appeal Judgement, para. 12, See also Karera Appeal Judgement, para. 11; Muvunyi Appeal

Judgement, para. 11 MiloSevi¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 17.

3 o
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impugned decision to be reversed or revised may be immediately dismissed by the Appeals

Chamber and need not be considered on the merits.*!

14. In order for the Appeals Chamber to assess arguments on appeal, the appealing party must
provide precise references to relevant transcript pages or paragraphs in the decision or judgement to
which the challenge is made.?? Further, the Appeals Chamber cannot be expected to consider a
party’s submissions in detail if they are obscure, contradictory, vague, or suffer from other formal
and obvious insufficiencies.” Finally, the Appeals Chamber has inherent discretion in selecting
which submissions merit a detailed reasoned opinion in writing and will dismiss arguments which

are evidently unfounded without providing detailed reasoning.*

2\ Zigiranyirazo Appeal Judgement, para. 12. See also Karera Appeal Judgement, para. 11; Muvunyi Appeal
Judgement, para. 11; Ori¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 13,

# Practice Direction on Formal Requirements for Appeals from Judgement, para. 4(b). See Zigiranyirazo Appeal
Judgement, para. 13; Karera Appeal Judgement, para. 12; Muvunyi Appeal Judgement, para. 12.

* Zigiranyirazo Appeal Judgement, para. 13. See also Karera Appeal Judgement, para. 12; Muvunyi Appeal
Judgement, para. 12; Milofevi¢ Appeal Judgement, para, 16.

¥ Zigiranyirazo Appeal Judgement, para. 13. See also Karera Appeal Judgement, para. 12; Muvunyi Appeal
Judgement, para. 12; MiloSevi¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 16.

Case No. ICTR-01-72-A y\_’J-S-MarC’ﬁ'ZOlO
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III. BIKINDI’S APPEAL AGAINST CONVICTION

15.  The Appeals Chamber first addresses the Appellant’s Fifth Ground of Appeal which alleges

that he did not receive effective assistance of his Co-Counsel.

A. Alleged Ineffective Assistance of Co-Counsel (Ground of Appeal 5)

16. On 21 September 2006, Co-Counsel Jean de Dieu Momo cross-examined Prosecution
Witness AKJ.” Lead Counsel Wilfred Nderitu and the Appellant were both present during this
cross-examination.”® The Trial Chamber relied on the evidence of Witness AKJ, along with that of
Witness AKK, to find that sometime towards the end of June 1994, the Appellant was “in a vehicle
with loudspeakers making anti-Tutsi utterances in a convoy of buses filled with Interahamwe on the
road between Kivumu and Kayove” and his songs were played through loudspeakers.”” Based on
this finding, the Trial Chamber found that the Appellant was guilty on Count 4 of the Indictment for

direct and public incitement to commit genocide.?®

17. The Appeals Chamber notes that in a separate finding, the Trial Chamber relied on the
evidence of Witnesses AKJ and AKK to find that the Appellant participated in an MRND rally in
Kivumu in 1993. The Appeals Chamber further notes that in assessing the credibility of Witness
AKJ’s testimony with regard to the MRND rally in Kivumu in 1993, the Trial Chamber stated:

[Dluring the cross-examination much confusion was created regarding the date of the rally.
However, the Chamber attributes this solely to the method of questioning used by Defence
Counsel, and accordingly does not consider that this witness’s credibility was harmed by this. The
Chamber found no reason to doubt the reliability of this eye witness, or his credibility which was
consistent throughout his testimony.*

18.  Later, in assessing the reliability of Witness AKJ’s testimony in relation to the Kayove-

Kivumu road incident, the Trial Chamber noted “a slight confusion as to the date the incident

T, 21 September 2006 p. 1. Mr. Jean de Dieu Momo was assigned as Co-Counsel (“Co-Counsel”) on 5 July 2006 and
continued 1o act as such until the end of the trial. Mr. Wilfred Nderitu was assigned as Lead Counsel (“Lead Counsel
Nderitu”) on 25 November 2002 and continued to act as such until 29 March 2007, when the Registrar withdrew him at
the Appellant’s request. Mr. Andreas O’Shea was appointed as Lead Counsel on 9 May 2007 and has continued to
represent the Appellant through the present appeal (“Lead Counsel O’Shea”). See Trial Judgement, Annex A —
Procedural History, paras. 3, 20; Bikindi’s «Demande de retrait de la commission d’office du Conseil principal», 10
February 2007; Registrar’s Decision Withdrawing the Assignment of Mr. Wilfred N. Nderitu as Lead Counsel for the
Accused Simon Bikindi, 29 March 2007, filed on 30 March 2007; T. 15 May 2007 p. 1 (Status Conference).

9T 21 September 2006 p. 1.

*” Trial Judgement, paras. 267-281, sp. 276 (wherein the Trial Chamber also relies on the evidence of Witness AKK to
make this finding), 285.

%% Trial Judgement, paras. 423, 424, 426.

* See Trial Judgement, para. 141.

% Trial Judgement, para. 136 and fn. 278 (footnote omitted).

Case No. ICTR-01-72-A /\—" 18 March 2010



892/H

occurred” and again attributed this “to the manner and style of questioning by [Co-Counsel].”! It

then concluded that this confusion did not harm Witness AKJ’s credibility.*?

19.  The Appellant submits that his case suffered as a result of the “ineffective assistance””* and

34 of his Co-Counsel during the cross-examination of

“gross incompetence and/or gross negligence
Witness AKJ.* He argues that this incompetence occasioned a miscarriage of justice because the
Trial Chamber convicted him on the basis of Witness AKJ’s untested evidence.’® He submits that

his conviction is therefore unsafe and should be reversed.*’

20.  The Prosecution responds that the Appellant’s submissions under this ground should not be
considered because he failed to raise the issue of competence or negligence at trial.*® It argues that
should the Appeals Chamber consider the merits of this ground of appeal, it should be dismissed on

the basis that the Appellant has failed to rebut the presumption of competence on appcal.3 ?

1. Applicable Law

21. Pursuant to Article 20(4)(d) of the Statute, an accused has the right to be represented by
competent counsel.*® Counsel is “considered qualified to represent a suspect or accused, provided
that he is admitted to the practice of law in a State, or is a University professor of law.”*! The
Appeals Chamber recalls that Articles 13 and 14 of the Directive on the Assignment of Defence
Counsel set out the qualifications and formal requirements that the Registrar must verify prior to the
assignment of any counsel. The presumption of competence enjoyed by all counsel working with
the Tribunal is predicated upon these guarantees.*? Therefore, for an appeal alleging incompetence
of counsel to succeed, an appellant must rebut the presumption of competence by demonstrating
gross professional misconduct or negligence on the part of the counsel which occasioned a

miscarriage of justice.43

*! Trial Judgement, para. 274 and fn. 596, referring to fn. 278 (footnote omitted).

*2 Trial Judgement, para. 274.

* Bikindi’s Notice of Appeal, p. 6; Bikindi’s Appellant’s Brief, para. 71.

* Bikindi’s Appellant’s Brief, para. 71, citing Nahimana et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 130; Akayesu Appeal
Judgement, para. 77.

% Bikindi’s Appellant’s Brief, para. 71.

36 Bikindi’s Notice of Appeal, p. 6; Bikindi's Appellant’s Brief, para. 71; AT. 30 September 2009 pp. 9, 21-24.

*7 Bikindi’s Notice of Appeal, p. 6.

* Prosecution’s Respondent’s Brief, paras. 92, 103, 110, 116, 167. See also AT. 30 September 2009 pp. 37-39.

¥ Prosecution’s Respondent’s Brief, para. 103.

* See Nahimana et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 130, citing Akayesu Appeal Judgement, paras. 76, 78; Kambanda
Appeal Judgement, para. 34 and fn. 49.

* Rule 44(A) of the Rules.

*2 Nahimana et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 130.

* See Nahimana et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 130; Akayesu Appeal Judgement, para. 77. See also Krajisnik Appeal
Judgement, para. 42, quoting Blagojevi¢ and Joki¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 23 (footnotes omitted).

6 y /
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22.  Pursuant to Article 19(1) of the Statute, the Trial Chamber is required to guarantee a fair and
expeditious trial with full respect for the rights of the accused.* However, it is not for the Trial
Chamber to dictate to a party how to conduct its case.*’ Thus, where an accused claims that his right
to competent assistance from counsel is violated, the onus is on the accused to bring this violation
to the attention of the Trial Chamber.*® If the accused does not do so at trial, he must establish on
appeal that his counsel’s incompetence was so manifest as to oblige the Trial Chamber to act.”” He
must further demonstrate that the Trial Chamber’s failure to intervene occasioned a miscarriage of

. . 8
justice.”*

2. Whether the Appellant is Precluded from Challenging Co-Counsel’s Competence on Appeal

23.  The Prosecution argues that it was the Appellant’s responsibility to raise this issue during
the trial*® and that the very fact that he first raised it after the Trial Judgement was rendered should

be fatal to his submissions.>®

24. The Appellant concedes that the onus rests on an accused to raise issues of incompetence of
counsel with the Trial Chamber where the prejudice is apparent to him.”! However, he argues that
his failure to do so does not preclude review of the matter by the Appeals Chamber.’? He further
submits that as he has no legal background® it would be “grossly unfair” and unreasonable to
oblige him to bring the issue of his counsel’s incompetence to the attention of the Trial Chamber,
particularly if not doing so would deprive him of an effective remedy to the violation of his right to
legal assistance. He submits that as a non-lawyer, he was reluctant to raise the issue himself
155

during trial,” and that he reasonably assumed that the Trial Chamber would address the issue, since

it had criticised his Co-Counsel’s conduct of the cross-examination.>®

* Nahimana et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 131, citing Simic Appeal Judgement, para. 71; Akayesu Appeal Judgement,
ara. 76, citing Kambanda Appeal Judgment, para. 34, including fn. 49.

> Krajisnik Appeal Judgement, para. 42.

“ Nahimana et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 131 (referring to Article 45(H) of the Rules, pursuant to which the Trial

Chamber may, under exceptional circumstances, intervene at the request of the accused or his counsel, by “[instructing]
the Registrar to replace an assigned counsel, upon good cause being shown and after having been satisfied that the
request is not designed to delay the proceedings™). Articles 19 and 20 of the Directive on the Assignment of Defence
Counsel set out the conditions for, respectively, withdrawal and replacement of Counsel.

" Nahimana et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 131. See also Krajisnik Appeal Judgement, para. 42.

* Nahimana et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 131. See also Krajisnik Appeal Judgement, para. 42,

% Prosecution’s Respondent’s Brief, paras. 90, 91 (quoting Nahimana et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 131), 92-103.

% Prosecution’s Respondent’s Brief, para. 103, citing Bikindi’s Notice of Appeal, paras. 22-25. See also AT. 30
September 2009 p. 39.

*! Defence Appellant’s Reply Brief, 11 May 2009, para. 44 (“Bikindi’s Reply Brief").

*2 Bikindi’s Reply Brief, para. 44, citing Nahimana et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 131.

53 Bikindi’s Reply Brief, para. 46.

* Bikindi's Reply Brief, paras. 45-47.

** Bikindi's Reply Brief, para. 48.

% Bikindi’s Reply Brief, para. 49,

7
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25.  The Appellant attaches an unsigned statement to his Reply Brief which, he claims, shows
that he may not have realised the full extent of the deficiencies in the performance of his Co-
Counsel, particularly with regard to cross-examination.”’ According to the Appellant, this statement
demonstrates that he initially complained to Lead Counsel Nderitu about various matters”® and that
Lead Counsel Nderitu’s failure to intervene is illustrative of the ineffective and dysfunctional nature
of his entire Defence team.” He further argues that he was concerned that seeking the removal of
his entire team might lead to serious prejudice to his case, particularly since the Trial Chamber had
previously indicated that it would not adjourn or reschedule the case based on any issue which the

Appellant might be facing with his counsel.*’

He points out that Lead Counsel O’Shea was granted
a short adjournment of “just a few months”, despite assuming his position one month before the

6
expected commencement of the Defence case. :

26.  The Appellant argues that the case file shows the degree of hostility between Lead Counsel
Nderitu and his Co-Counsel during the Prosecution case, which ultimately prejudiced the conduct
of his defence, including the quality of Co-Counsel’s cross-examination of Witness AKJ.®* He
submits that Lead Counsel Nderitu had attempted unsuccessfully to remove his Co-Counsel from
the case and lost the Appellant’s confidence in the process.” According to the Appellant, upon
assuming his position, Lead Counsel O’Shea decided that it was not in the best interests of the
Appellant to seek the removal of his Co-Counsel® as this would have caused tension within the
team and difficulties in meeting the scheduled court date for commencement of the Defence case.®’
Lead Counsel O’Shea instead chose to curtail the role of the Co-Counsel in the proceedings.66 The
Appellant argues that the issue was raised in the Final Trial Brief, albeit in a more general manner.%’
He submits that this was reasonable, given the limited time and resources at his disposal;68 his
desire to avoid exacerbating tensions within his team; and that the Final Trial Brief had to address

. . . .7
numerous serious allegations against him. 0

57 Bikindi’s Reply Brief, para. 53, citing Annexure A 1o his Reply Brief. See also Bikindi’s Reply Brief, para. 55.

5% Bikindi’s Reply Brief, para. 62, referring to Annexures B, C, and D thereto.

* Bikindi’s Reply Brief, para. 63.

% Bikindi’s Reply Brief, para. 54, quoting extracts from T. 23 February 2007 pp. 1, 2, 4, 5.

%' Bikindi's Reply Brief, para. 56, quoting an extract from the Status Conference, T. 15 May 2007 p. 2 (quotation
omitted).

%2 Bikindi’s Reply Brief, para. 57.

8% Bikindi’s Reply Brief, para. 57.

® Bikindi’s Reply Brief, para. 58.

% Bikindi’s Reply Brief, para. 58.

% Bikindi’s Reply Brief, para. 59.

57 Bikindi’s Reply Brief, para. 60, citing Bikindi’s Final Trial Brief (Confidential), paras. 497, 498. See also Bikindi’s
Reply Brief, para. 61, citing Prosecution’s Respondent’s Brief, para. 92.

% Bikindi’s Reply Brief, para. 60.

% Bikindi’s Reply Brief, para. 60.

" Bikindi's Reply Brief, para. 60.
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27.  The Appeals Chamber notes that Lead Counsel Nderitu was withdrawn from the case, at the
Appellant’s request, on 29 March 2007, after the close of the Prosecution case and before the
opening of the Defence case.”' Lead Counsel O’Shea was assigned on 9 May 2007, six days before
the opening of the Defence case.”” The Defence case was heard from 24 September 2007 to 7
November 2007, and the closing arguments were made on 26 May 2008.” Co-Counsel remained on
the case until the end of trial proceedings. At no point during the trial proceedings or before the
delivery of the Trial Judgement did the Appellant or his Lead Counsel raise the issue of the
incompetence or negligence of the Co-Counsel or request the Trial Chamber to provide a remedy

for the allegedly ineffective cross-examination of Witness AKJ.

28.  The Appeals Chamber recognizes that Lead Counsel O’Shea, who took responsibility for the
case only after the close of the Prosecution case and shortly before the start of the Defence case,
was perhaps not in a position to assess immediately whether the cross-examination of Witness AKJ
was competently carried out. However, Lead Counsel O’Shea was in charge of the case for more
than one year until the conclusion of the trial and therefore had ample time to assess the situation.
The Appeals Chamber emphasises that as the Lead Counsel in the case, Mr. O’Shea was
responsible for the overall conduct of the Appellant’s defence. Thus, if he or the Appellant
considered that the cross-examination of Witness AKJ was flawed, at least two options were open
to him: moving the Trial Chamber to recall the witness, or requesting the exclusion of the witness’s

evidence based on a lack of effective assistance of counsel.

29.  Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber finds that the Appellant should have raised the issue of
the Co-Counsel’s competence at trial. However, as noted above, the Appellant is not precluded
from raising the issue for the first time on appeal.” As such, he must establish on appeal that his
counsel’s incompetence was so manifest as to oblige the Trial Chamber to intervene and he must

further demonstrate that the Trial Chamber’s failure to act occasioned a miscarriage of justice.”

3. Whether the Appellant Has Rebutted the Presumption of Competence of Co-Counsel

30.  The Appellant submits that when read in its entirety, it is clear that the cross-examination of
Witness AKJ by his Co-Counsel did not meet the minimum level of competence necessary to

ensure that justice was done in his case.”® He argues that as a result, his rights to legal assistance

! See Trial Judgement, Annex A — Procedural History, paras. 19-21.
7 See Trial Judgement, Annex A — Procedural History, para. 20.

7 See Trial Judgement, Annex A — Procedural History, paras. 20-33.
7 See supra para. 22.

> See supra para. 22.

"8 Bikindi’s Appellant’s Brief, para. 72.
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and to have the witnesses against him examined were violated.”” The Appellant argues that his Co-
Counsel had the professional obligation to request an adjournment in order to remedy any of the
difficulties he was facing or to seek assistance from or replacement by Lead Counsel Nderitu.” He
further avers that Lead Counsel Nderitu failed in his duty to supervise and assist in the work of his
team.”” Specifically, he argues that his Co-Counsel: (1) had inadequate knowledge of the Rules and
the methods of cross-examination; (2) had inadequate knowledge of the case; (3) conducted the
cross-examination of Witness AKJ in a “thoroughly disorganized and illogical” manner;* and (4)

failed to follow his instructions.®!

31. The Prosecution responds that the Appellant has failed to rebut the Co-Counsel’s
presumption of competence or establish that the alleged incompetence of Co-Counsel was so
manifest as to oblige the Trial Chamber to act.®” The Appeals Chamber will consider the

Appellant’s arguments in turn.

(a) Alleged Inadequate Knowledge of the Rules and Method of Cross-Examination

32.  The Appellant submits that at various times during the cross-examination of Witness AKJ,
his Co-Counsel made statements to the Judges which demonstrated that he was not familiar with the
relevant basic documents and jurisprudence of the Tribunal,®® including Rule 90 of the Rules®* or
the purpose of cross-examination.” The Prosecution does not respond to this submission. The
Appellant maintains that, on several occasions, his Co-Counsel made statements to the effect that he

86
1,

was a “novice” to the procedural environment of the Tribunal,™ that he was “perhaps not up to the

task”,*” and incorrectly described the Tribunal as operating under common law.* He also submits

"7 Bikindi’s Notice of Appeal, para. 22, referring to Articles 20(4)(d) and (e) of the Statute, respectively.

™ Bikindi’s Appellant’s Brief, para. 73, citing Article 5(a) of the Code of Professional Conduct for Defence Counsel.

" Bikindi’s Appellant’s Brief, para. 79; Bikindi’s Appellant’s Reply, paras. 48, 50, 61, 63.

% Bikindi’s Appellant’s Brief, para. 72.

3 See Bikindi's Appellant’s Brief, paras. 71-89.

%2 prosecution’s Respondent’s Brief, paras. 90, 104-110.

% Bikindi’s Appellant’s Brief, para. 80.

8 Bikindi's Appellant’s Brief, para. 80, citing Witness AKJ, T. 21 September 2006 p. 3. Rule 90(G) of the Rules
provides that: *(i) Cross-examination shall be limited to the subject-matter of the evidence-in-chief and matters
affecting the credibility of the witness and, where the witness is able to give evidence relevant to the case for the cross-
examining party, to the subject-matter of the case; (ii) In the cross-examination of a witness who is able to give
evidence relevant to the case for the cross-examining party, counsel shall put to that witness the nature of the case of the
party for whom that counsel appears which is in contradiction of the evidence given by the witness; and (jii) The Trial
Chamber may, in the exercise of its discretion, permit enquiry into additional matters.”

* Bikindi’s Appellant’s Brief, para. 80, citing Witness AKJ, T. 21 September 2006 p. 14; T. 30 September 2009 p. 21.
*® Bikindi’s Appellant’s Brief, para. 80, citing Witness AKJ, T. 21 September 2006 pp. 3, 4, 11, 14.

¥ Bikindi’s Appellant’s Brief, para. 73, citing Witness AKJ, T. 21 September 2006 pp. 3, 4, 11, 14.

% Bikindi's Appellant’s Brief, para. 80, citing Witness AKJ, T. 21 September 2006 p. 4.
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that his Co-Counsel “claimed ignorance of the principle that cross-examination was not a fishing

[ 8
expedition.” s

33.  The Appeals Chamber notes that it was Lead Counsel Nderitu, not the Co-Counsel, who
originally requested clarification from the Trial Chamber as to whether the Appellant would be
allowed to cross-examine the witness under Rule 90(G) of the Rules on matters not raised in the
examination-in-chief with a view to impeaching the witness.” The Co-Counsel’s submissions were
made in addition to those of Lead Counsel Nderitu on this issue.”’ The Appellant does not explain
how the Co-Counsel’s additional submissions show that he did not understand Rule 90 of the Rules

or its effect.

34.  The Appeals Chamber is not persuaded by the Appellant’s contention that Co-Counsel’s
description of himself as a “novice”, ignorant of the procedural environment of the Tribunal
amounts to an admission of incompetence. The Appeals Chamber considers that these utterances
could equally be interpreted as an attempt on the part of the Co-Counsel to show deference to the
experience of the Trial Chamber in his first appearance before it. Indeed, the Co-Counsel’s
comment that he sought the “indulgence” of the court during his first appearance supports such an
interpretation.’> The Appeals Chamber further finds the Appellant’s submission that his Co-
Counsel’s alleged ignorance of the “principle” that cross-examination was not a “fishing
expedition” to be unconvincing. It is evident from the relevant section of the trial transcript that the
Presiding Judge indicated that Judge Arrey was of the view that Co-Counsel’s cross-examination
was a “fishing expedition” and suggested that Co-Counsel was using cross-examination as an
investigation. In response, the Co-Counsel stated that it was common in his jurisdiction to “fish
out” information, but that he would proceed with the next question.”> The Appeals Chamber is not

persuaded on the basis of this exchange that Co-Counsel has been shown to be incompetent.

(b) Alleged Inadequate Knowledge of the Case

35.  The Appellant submits that on several occasions his Co-Counsel demonstrated that he failed

to master a basic knowledge of the case before embarking on his cross-examination, including

topics related to the examination-in-chief.”*

* Bikindi’s Appellant’s Brief, para. 80, citing Witness AKJ, T. 21 September 2006 p. 14.

% See Witness AKJ, T, 21 September 2006 p. 3.

9! See Witness AKJ, T. 21 September 2006 p. 3.

%2 See Witness AKJ, T. 21 September 2006 pp. 3, 4.

%% See Witness AKJ, T. 21 September 2006 p. 14.

* Bikindi's Appellant’s Brief, para. 82, citing Witness AKJ, T. 21 September 2006 pp. 4, 5.
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36. The Appellant argues that this is illustrated by his Co-Counsel’s erroneous reference to
ONATRACOM “minibuses” during his cross-examination of Witness AKJ” since this witness
never mentioned “minibuses” during his examination-in-chief.”® He argues that had his Co-Counsel
visited Rwanda or consulted with him, he would have known that ONATRACOM buses were
“large coaches”.”’ The Appeals Chamber notes that Co-Counsel referred generally to “buses or

minibuses belonging to ONATRACOM?” and not just to “minibuses” as the Appellant avers.”

37.  The Appellant further cites his Co-Counsel’s statement that he did not understand the words
“ingoma ya cyami” and could not pronounce them,” even though these words were a repetitive line

in the Appellant’s song “Twasezereye”m0

and appeared in various documents in the Appellant’s
case file and in Prosecution documents.'®’ The Appeals Chamber notes that although the Co-
Counsel said to the witness that he (Co-Counsel) did not understand Kinyarwanda and therefore
could not comprehend or pronounce the words “ingoma ya cyami”, the Co-Counsel also stated:
“that song Twasezereye - and you continued with more words of the title which I do not understand,
but it speaks of the past. Now, what did you understand that song to mean?”'® Thus, the Co-
Counsel was in fact familiar with the basic subject matter of the song, and proceeded to ask further

questions to the witness as to what he understood the song to mean.'®

38.  The Appeals Chamber finds that the foregoing statements of Co-Counsel do not demonstrate

inadequate knowledge of the case.

(¢) Alleged Poorly Prepared and “Disorganized” Cross-Examination of Witness AKJ

39.  The Appellant submits that Co-Counsel’s questions demonstrate that he was neither familiar
with the examination-in-chief of Witness AKJ, nor with the materials relating to this witness.'® He
points out that Co-Counsel failed to ask a series of important questions related to the incident for
which he was convicted, such as the number of vehicles accompanying the Appellant on the
Kivumu-Kayove road, the exact location, and what else the witness saw and heard apart from the

Appellant.105

% Bikindi’s Appellant’s Brief, para. 82, citing Witness AKJ, T. 21 September 2006 p. 16.

% Bikindi’s Appellant’s Brief, para. 82,

%7 Bikindi’s Appellant’s Brief, para. 82, citing Witness AKJ, T. 20 September 2006 p. 50 (transcript date corrected).
% See Witness AKJ, T. 21 September 2006 p. 16.

% Bikindi’s Appellant’s Brief, para. 82, citing Witness AKJ, T. 21 September 2006 p. 6.

1% Bikindi’s Appellant’s Brief, para. 82, citing Exhibit P73(E), Joint Expert Report, Annex I, title and line of the song
under “refrain”, disclosed to the Defence on 20 July 2006 (“Exhibit P73(E)”); Exhibit D33(K).

1! Bikindi’s Appellant’s Brief, para. 82, citing Exhibit P73(E); Exhibit P74.

192 See Witness AKJ, T. 21 September 2006 p. 6 (emphasis added).

' See Witness AKJ, T. 21 September 2006 pp. 6, 7.

'™ Bikindi’s Appellant’s Brief, para. 76, citing Witness AKJ, T. 21 September 2006 p. 5.

' Bikindi’s Appellant’s Brief, para. 84.
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40. The Appellant submits that the cross-examination of Witness AKJ was “thoroughly
disorganized and illogical” and that this was acknowledged by the Trial Chamber’s interventions'®®

d.'"” He submits that his Co-Counsel’s failure to

and can clearly be inferred from the trial recor
investigate Witness AKJ led to: (1) confusion concerning the dates, which invited the Judges to
erroneously consider that the contradictions in the dates were due to the manner of questioning;'®
and (2) Co-Counsel’s reference to June 1994 in relation to the public address system incident,
despite the fact that the Presiding Judge had already elicited a clear response from the witness to the
effect that this incident occurred in 1993.'% As a result, the Trial Chamber found that the Appellant

had not raised reasonable doubt as to the credibility or reliability of this evidence.'"”

41.  The Prosecution responds that an ineffective cross-examination is not sufficient to rebut the
presumption of competence.''' It submits that in the absence of any inconsistencies in the evidence

of Witness AKJ, it was open to the Trial Chamber to rely on this evidence.'?

42.  The Appeals Chamber notes that towards the end of the cross-examination of Witness AKJ,
the Trial Chamber expressed its frustration with the way in which the Appellant’s Co-Counsel
conducted his questioning.“3 The Appeals Chamber accepts that Co-Counsel’s cross-examination
of Witness AKJ was poorly structured. However, it is clear from the transcripts that his Co-Counsel
nonetheless did question the witness, inter alia, as to what he saw at the Kivumu rally and on the
Kivumu-Kayove road, the time when these incidents occurred, and the circumstances in which he

saw the Appellant.'"*

19 Bikindi’s Appellant’s Brief, para. 72, citing Witness AKJ, T. 21 September 2006 pp. 8, 10-17, 19, 21; Bikindi’s
Reply Brief, para. 66, citing Bikindi’s Appellant’s Brief, paras. 72-78, 81-87.

' Bikindi’s Reply Brief, paras. 65, 66.

'% Bikindi's Appellant’s Brief, para. 83, citing Trial Judgement, paras. 136, 274; AT. 30 September 2009 pp. 21-24.
The Appeals Chamber will address this issue further in its discussion of Grounds 1 and 2 of the Appellant’s appeal. See
infra paras. 75-717.

' Bikindi’s Appellant’s Brief, para. 85, citing Witness AKJ, T. 21 September 2006 p. 25.

' Bikindi’s Appellant’s Brief, para. 87.

! prosecution’s Respondent’s Brief, para. 106, citing Bikindi’s Appellant’s Brief, para. 89.

'2 prosecution’s Respondent’s Brief, para. 114, citing Witness Statement of AKJ, 29 June 2001 p. 3 and Witness AKJ,
T. 20 September 2006 p. 50; T. 21 September 2006 p. 25.

'3 Witness AKJ, T. 21 September 2006 p. 18 (“Q. MADAM PRESIDENT: [...] You have achieved, Mr. Momo, to
have us all confused. We don't know whether you are speaking about ‘93, or '94; whether it was May '93 or May '94, or
June '93 or June '94. We are lost; Prosecution’s lost; the witness is lost, so with this line of cross-examination you are
not discrediting the witness, but confusing all of us. So wind up in a way that we can all understand. Because, first, you
had a few minutes having the witness explain that it was May and not June '93. Now, you have been jumping so much
back and forth that we don't know which is the location, which the month, which the year and which the place.”); p. 19
(“Q. MADAM PRESIDENT: Counsel, this has been a very misleading cross-examination. The witness statement and
yesterday's testimony have been coincident, and this afternoon when you started with your cross-examination the
witness confirmed the date of May 1993 -- said it was in June. He could not specify which day of May. Then you have
been jumping back and forth. When Judge Arrey asked you, you said it was your tactic. But your strategy cannot be to
confuse the witness, confuse us and then lead us to discredit the witness because you have been confusing all of us.
That doesn't help. We are aware that your client is accused of a very serious crime, but the way of cross-examining is
not confusing, but trying to find out the truth.”).

' Witness AKJ, T. 21 September 2006 pp. 15-17.
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43.  The Appellant further submits that Co-Counsel failed to establish a basis for challenging the
credibility or reliability of the evidence which is fundamental to his conviction.'”® He argues that
the Co-Counsel failed to elicit inconsistencies between the testimony of Witness AKJ and his prior
statements, between what the witness stated during his evidence-in-chief and cross-examination, or

between his testimony and the anticipated evidence of Witness AKK.'®

44.  The Appeals Chamber finds these submissions to be generalised and unconvincing. The
Appeals Chamber considers that the manner in which counsel structures a cross-examination 1s a
matter of defence strategy which rests squarely within the discretion of the defence. This is
consistent with the general principle that it is is not for the Trial Chamber to dictate to a party how
to conduct its case.''” Furthermore, the Appeals Chamber cannot analyse defence strategy in a
vacuum after the completion of trial, nor would it be appropriate for the Appeals Chamber to do so.
It follows that it is not sufficient for the Appellant merely to assert after the completion of trial that
his Co-Counsel was incompetent because he did not adopt a different approach during the cross-
examination of a given witness. At a minimum, the Appellant should demonstrate how a different

approach would have had a positive impact on the verdict.

45. In light of the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber is not persuaded that key elements of
Witness AKJ’s evidence were untested, as the Appellant avers, and concludes that the Appellant
has failed to demonstrate that the alleged inadequate preparation and a lack of organisation on the
part of Co-Counsel with respect to the cross-examination of this witness is sufficient to make a

finding of incompetence.

(d) Alleged Failure to Follow the Appellant’s Instructions

46.  The Appellant further argues that it was incumbent on both of his Counsel to consult with
him and to “take into account his reasonable instructions on evidential leads and avenues for
confronting [Witness AKJ]”.! '® He submits a statement detailing his basis for claiming that this was
not done.'” He argues that there was nothing in the cross-examination of Witness AKJ which
would demonstrate any level of investigation of the witness prior to the cross-examination, which

was contrary to his instructions.'®

"% Bikindi’s Appellant’s Brief, paras. 84-86.

"% Bikindi’s Appellant’s Brief, paras. 77,78.

"7 Krajisnik Appeal Judgement, para. 42.

''¥ Bikindi’s Appellant’s Brief, para. 79.

1% See Bikindi’s Appellant’s Brief, paras. 79 citing his statement dated 12 March 2009, attached as Annexure G
(“Bikindi’s Statement™).

120 Bikindi’s Appellant’s Brief, para. 81, citing Bikindi’s Statement.
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47.  The Appeals Chamber has already found that the Appellant has not demonstrated that Co-
Counsel’s alleged inadequate preparation and lack of organisation with respect to the cross-
examination of Witness AKJ was sufficient to make a finding of incompetence.'*' The Appellant
does not explain what information he anticipated would be revealed by an investigation prior to
cross-examination, nor does he explain why he did not raise these issues during the course of the
trial. The Appellant fails to point to any information on the Trial Record to support this submission.
Furthermore, the Appeals Chamber recalls that it declined to admit this statement as additional

evidence under Rule 115 of the Rules.!?

Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber is unable to rely on
this statement as evidence of the Appellant’s instructions to his counsel during trial. The

Appellant’s submissions in this regard are accordingly dismissed.

(e) Conclusion on the Competence of the Co-Counsel

48.  The Appeals Chamber has already found that each of the Appellant’s submissions as to the
alleged gross incompetence and negligence or ineffective assistance of his Co-Counsel has failed.
Accordingly, the Appellant has not rebutted the presumption of competence of his Co-Counsel in
the present case. It follows, that the Appellant has not demonstrated incompetence which was so
manifest as to oblige the Trial Chamber to intervene.'?® It is therefore not necessary for the Appeals

Chamber to consider the Appellant’s remaining submissions in this regard.
4. Conclusion

49, Accordingly, the Appellant’s Fifth Ground of Appeal is dismissed.

2! See supra para. 45.

12 See Decision on Simon Bikindi’s Motions to Admit Additional Evidence Pursuant to Rule 115 of the Rules, 16
September 2009 (“Rule 115 Decision™), paras. 25, 29, 30.
' See Nahamina et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 131.
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B. Alleged Error in Finding that the Appellant Incited the Killing of Tutsis on Kivumu-
Kayove Road (Grounds of Appeal 1 and 2)

50. The Trial Chamber found, based on the testimonies of Witnesses AKK and AKJ, that the
Appellant made exhortations to kill Tutsis on the Kivumu-Kayove road.'** Having considered their

evidence, the Trial Chamber found that:

[Tlowards the end of June 1994, in Gisenyi préfecture, Bikindi travelled on the main road between
Kivumu and Kayove in a convoy of Interahamwe and broadcast songs, including his own, using a
vehicle outfitted with a public address system. When heading towards Kayove, Bikindi used the
public address system to state that the majority population, the Hutu, should rise up to exterminate
the minority, the Tutsi. On his way back, Bikindi used the same system to ask if people had been
killing Tutsi, who were referred to as snakes.'?

The Trial Chamber found that the Appellant’s words and the manner in which he disseminated his
message demonstrated that he “deliberately, directly and publicly incited the commission of
genocide with the specific intent to destroy the Tutsi ethnic group”.'”® The Trial Chamber
concluded that the Appellant was criminally responsible as a principal perpetrator for direct and
public incitement to commit genocide under Articles 2(3)(c) and 6(1) of the Statute, as charged in
Count 4 of the Indictment.'”’

51. Under his First and Second Grounds of Appeal, the Appellant challenges these findings and

8

submits that the Trial Chamber committed numerous errors of fact and law in reaching them'?® and

seeks the reversal of his conviction.'?® He argues that the Trial Chamber erred: (1) in its assessment

of the testimonies of Witnesses AKK and AKJ;130

(2) in stating that they corroborated each other;'*!
(3) in finding that the incident occurred in late June 1994;* and (4) in concluding beyond

reasonable doubt that he participated in the incident.'*

52.  The Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber made two interrelated but different
findings of facts that relate to the killings of Tutsis at Kivumu in late June 1994, Specifically, it
found that “[w]hen heading towards Kayove, Bikindi used the public address system to state that

the majority population, the Hutu, should rise up to exterminate the minority, the Tutsi. On his way

124 Trial Judgement, paras. 267-281, 285.

125 Trial Judgement, para. 281. See also Trial Judgement, para. 285.

126 Trial Judgement, para. 424,

127 Trial Judgement, paras. 423, 426.

128 Bikindi’s Notice of Appeal, pp. 3, 4. See also AT. 30 September 2009 pp. 4-13.
1% Bikindi’s Notice of Appeal, pp. 9, 13; Bikindi’s Appellant’s Brief, paras. 31, 40.
"% Bikindi's Appellant’s Brief, para. 39.

1! Bikindi’s Notice of Appeal, para. 8; Bikindi’s Appellant’s Brief, para. 16.

12 Bikindi’s Appellant’s Brief, paras. 20, 38.

1% Bikindi’s Notice of Appeal, para. 8.
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back, Bikindi used the same system to ask if people had been killing Tutsi, who were referred to as

4
snakes”."

1. Alleged Error Related to the Finding that the Appellant Incited Killings of Tutsis on his Way

Towards Kavove, Based on Witness AKK’s Evidence

53. At trial, Witness AKK testified that he saw the Appellant address a rally organised by the
MRND and the CDR in Kivumu, Nyamyumba commune, in 1993;'** that he saw the Appellant
again, in June 1994, in a vehicle outfitted with a loudspeaker, as part of a convoy heading towards
Kayove, playing songs and broadcasting statements by the Appellant; that the Appellant said “[y]ou
sons of Sebahinzi, who are the majority, I am speaking to you, you know that the Tutsi are minority.
Rise up and look everywhere possible and do not spare anybody”; that on the way back from
Kayove, the Appellant stopped at a roadblock and met with leaders of the local Interahamwe where
he insisted, “you see, when you hide a snake in your house, you can expect to face the
consequences”; that after the Appellant left the roadblock, members of the surrounding population
and the Interahamwe intensified their search for Tutsis, using dogs and going into homes to flush
out those still hiding, and that a number of people were subsequently killed;'*® and that in June
1994, the day after these incidents on the Kayove-Kivumu road, Father Gatore was killed by

members of the population.'*’

54.  The Trial Chamber found Witness AKK’s evidence “credible and convincing” and relied on
it to make its findings that the Appellant made exhortations to kill Tutsis on the Kivumu-Kayove
road in late June 1994."*® However, the Trial Chamber did not find the Appellant responsible for the
killing of Father Gatore, which, according to Witness AKK, had occurred one day after this
incident. This was because the Defence raised doubt “as to when Father Gatore was killed”,l3 ® such
that the Trial Chamber could not be satisfied that he was killed as a result of the actions of the

Appellant. 140

1% Trial Judgement, para. 281. See also Trial Judgement, paras. 268, 269, 285.

'35 Trial Judgement, paras. 137, 267.

136 Trial Judgement, para. 268.

%7 Trial Judgement, para. 327. The Appeals Chamber notes that Witness AKK testified that he was not an eye-witness
to the killing, but that he heard about it from the killers who were boasting about it. See Witness AKK, T. 22 September
2006 p. 9.

" Trial Judgement, para. 285. See also Trial Judgement, paras. 267, 270-273. The Trial Chamber also found that
Witness AKJ was credible with respect to his account of the presence of the Appellant on the Kivumu-Kayove road in
late June 1994. See Trial Judgement, para. 285. The Trial Chamber’s findings with respect to the evidence of Witnesses
AKIJ and AKK conceming the Kivumu rally is addressed elsewhere in this Judgement. See infra Section II1.D.2
(Alleged Error Related to the Appellant’s Activities at a Rally in Kivumu in 1993),

"9 Trial Judgement, para. 334.

1® Trial Judgement, paras. 321-323, 333-336.
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55.  The Appellant submits that the Trial Chamber erred in assessing the evidence of Witness
AKK."*! He argues that no reasonable trier of fact could have been satisfied that his testimony was
reliable.’*? He notes that the Trial Chamber acknowledged that Witness AKK consistently testified
that the killing of Father Gatore followed the incident in which he saw the Appellant exhorting the
killing of Tutsis on the Kivumu-Kayove road.'* He submits that in light of this finding, the Trial
Chamber erred in concluding that the doubt raised as to when Father Gatore was killed did not
discredit Witness AKK’s first-hand and articulate evidence on the Appellant’s exhortations to kill

Tutsis on his way to Kayove in late June 199414

56. Specifically, the Appellant contends that the Trial Chamber committed an error of law in
focusing on the question of credibility of Witness AKK without properly addressing the question of
whether his testimony as to June 1994 being the date of the incident was reliable.'* He asserts that
for a Trial Chamber to convict on the basis of a witness’s testimony, it cannot merely assess
whether a witness is credible; it must be satisfied that the witness is both credible and reliable in

relation to each aspect of his evidence going to an essential element of the crime.'*®

57.  The Appellant further submits that the evidence of Defence Witness Bizimana'*’ and
Exhibit D111'*® were both credible and showed that Father Gatore died in April 1994.'*° He claims
that this evidence creates an uncertainty as to when the Kivumu-Kayove road incident occurred,

150

leaving open the possibility that it happened at a time when he was not in Rwanda. ™ He submits

that the Trial Chamber erred in characterizing this evidence as hearsay'”' and undervalued Witness
Bizimana’s evidence by stating that he testified “[as] to what he was told”."* The Appellant argues
that in fact, this witness testified that he learned of the killing of Father Gatore and of two other

persons in April 1994, and saw the body of one of the three victims.'*?

He argues that, for this
reason, Witness Bizimana’s testimony is highly probative evidence that the victims could not have

died in June 1994.'* He points out that Witness Bizimana provided direct eye-witness testimony of
p p y y

' Bikindi’s Appellant’s Brief, para. 15.

"2 Bikindi’s Appellant’s Brief, para. 11.

13 Bikindi's Appellant’s Brief, para. 33, citing Trial Judgement, para. 272.

' Bikindi’s Appellant’s Brief, para. 33, citing Trial Judgement, para. 272.

145 Bikindi’s Appellant’s Brief, paras. 34, 35.

' Bikindi’s Appellant’s Brief, para. 34,

147 Witness Shadrack Bizimana testified that, while he could not remember the exact date, he was sure that Father
Gatore, Father Nsengiyumva, and Kabayiza were killed in April 1994. See Trial Judgement, para. 333.

148 Report of Massacres at Nyundo in Period April 94, UNAMIR, dated 14 October 1994. The Trial Chamber noted that
the report mentions April 1994 as the date of Father Gatore’s death. See Trial Judgement, para. 333 and fn. 765.

149 Bikindi’s Appellant’s Brief, para. 12; Bikindi’s Reply Brief, paras. 7, 8.

1% Bikindi’s Appellant’s Brief, para. 11.

13 Bikindi’s Reply Brief, para. 8.

132 Bikindi's Appellant’s Brief, para. 12.

' Bikindi’s Appellant’s Brief, para. 12,

134 Bikindi’s Appellant’s Brief, para. 12.
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seeing and reburying Father Gatore’s body."”> The Appellant points out that the Trial Chamber did
not reject the evidence of Witness Bizimana that Father Gatore died in April 1994, but rejected the

credibility of Prosecution witnesses who claimed that he died in June 1994.1%6

58.  The Appellant also claims that the Trial Chamber’s doubt as to the timing of the events
should have been reinforced by the fact that Witness AKK testified that a person named Kalisa died
at the same time as Father Gatore, whereas all the other witnesses who testified about this event

stated that the persons who died were named Gatore, Nsengiyumva, and Kabayiza."’

59. In sum, the Appellant submits that “it is unreasonable for the Trial Chamber to find
reasonable doubt that [Father] Gatore was killed in the month of June based upon defence evidence
that he was killed in April” without questioning the credibility or reliability of Witness AKK’s
entire testimony in relation to the Kivumu-Kayove road incident, given that Witness AKK centered

his “story” around the death of Father Gatore in June 1994,

60.  The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber correctly found that the Prosecution had
proved beyond reasonable doubt that the Appellant committed the crime of direct and public
incitement to commit genocide when he made anti-Tutsi statements from a vehicle travelling on the
main road between Kivumu and Kayove towards the end of June 1994."° It argues that the
Appellant’s submissions under Grounds 1 and 2 are unconvincing and insufficient to call into

question the reasonableness of the impugned findings.'®

61. The Appeals Chamber notes that in assessing the evidence of Witness AKK, the Trial
Chamber addressed a number of challenges made by the Defence based on alleged discrepancies
between Witness AKK’s testimony and a prior statement he made.'®! With regard to the date of the
incitement on Kivumu-Kayove road and the killing of Father Gatore, the Trial Chamber considered

the inconsistency between Witness AKK’s testimony in court, summarized above,162 and his prior
y y p

'3 Bikindi’s Reply Brief, para. 8.

%6 Bikindi’s Reply Brief, para. 12, citing Trial Judgement, para. 334.

57 Bikindi’s Appellant’s Brief, para. 19.

% Bikindi's Reply Brief, para. 11.

1% Prosecution’s Respondent’s Brief, para. 25, citing Trial Judgement, paras. 281, 422. See also Prosecution’s
Respondent’s Brief, para. 24, citing Trial Judgement, para. 423; AT. 30 September 2009 pp. 31-33.

189 prosecution’s Respondent’s Brief, paras. 22, 38.

'8! Trjal Judgement, paras. 270-273, wherein the Trial Chamber considered and rejected the Appellant’s challenges in
relation to: the circumstances in which Witness AKK saw the Appellant perform at Umuganda Stadium in 1992; the
lack of reference in Witness AKK’s previous statement to the Appellant’s speech about snakes at the roadblock on the
Appellant’s way back from Kayove; a discrepancy between Witness AKK's testimony and his prior statement as to the
respective dates of the Kivumu-Kayove road incident and the killing of Father Gatore; and the lack of reference in
Witness AKK’s prior statement to the death of Kalisa, notwithstanding that Witness AKK mentioned this victim during
his testimony.

162 See supra para. 53.
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18 according to which Witness AKK saw the Appellant on

statement, made on 5 and 8 May 2001,
the Kivumu-Kayove road in early June 1994, while the killing of Father Gatore occurred at the end
of June 1994.'*

62. Reading the 5 and 8 May 2001 Statement *“as a whole”, the Trial Chamber concluded that:

[T]he reference to ‘carly June 1994’ may have been a translation mistake from Kinyarwanda to
English during the interview since the witness recounted having heard of Father Gatore’s death
‘after [the Kivumu-Kayove road] incident’ in a way which clearly implied that Father Gatore's
death occurred consequently. Read as such, Witness AKK’s statement is consistent with Witness
AKJ’s testimony which places Bikindi’s anti-Tutsi utterances towards the end of June 1994,'6

The Trial Chamber observed that Witness AKK “remained consistent as to the chronology of both
incidents throughout his testimony” and found that “the doubt raised by the Defence as to when
Father Gatore was actually killed does not discredit Witness AKK’s first-hand and articulate
evidence on Bikindi’s exhortation to kill Tutsi on his way to Kayove.”'® In the section dealing with
the alleged incident at Rugerero roadblock and the alleged involvement of the Appellant in killings
that occurred in Nyamyumba, including the killing of Father Gatore, the Trial Chamber stated that,
while it had “no reason to question the credibility of Witness AKK that Gatore died in June 1994,
[...] the doubt raised by the Defence as to when Father Gatore was killed must weigh in favour of

the Accused”.'®’

63. The Trial Chamber reached its conclusion that there was a doubt as to the date of the killing
of Father Gatore based on the “‘evidence in its totality”,168 which included:'® Witness AKK’s
testimony, as recalled above; Witness AJY's testimony that, in late June 1994, a group composed of
the Appellant and Interahamwe carried out the mission to kill Tutsis in Nyamyumba “notably by
killing Father Gatore and Kabayiza”, that, later, the Appellant and the Interahamwe informed
people that they had killed Father Gatore, and that the Appellant had the identity cards of Father
Gatore and Kabayiza;”o Witness BKW’s testimony that, around 26 June 1994, he heard the
Appellant stating that he was going to kill Tutsi priests in Kivumu, that he heard the Appellant say
“that priests had been killed”, and that he later learned that Fathers Gatore and Vianney had been

'} Trial Judgement, para. 272, citing Exhibit DS, Witness AKK’s written statement dated 5 and 8 May 2001 (under
seal), pp. 3, 4 (“5 and § May 2001 Statement”).

184 Trial Judgement, para. 272, citing S and 8§ May 2001 Statement, pp. 3, 4.

1% Trial Judgement, para. 272.

' Trial Judgement, para. 272.

'*7 Trial Judgement, para. 334.

' Trial Judgement, para. 334, See also Trial Judgement, paras. 323, 333. The Trial Chamber considered the
testimonies of Prosecution Witnesses AKK and AJY and the evidence of Defence Witnesses Bizimana and XUV as
well as Exhibit D111,

1% The Trial Chamber also considered the evidence of Prosecution Witness AJZ on a distinct but related event. See
Trial Judgement, para. 324,

' Trial Judgement, para. 325.
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killed;'”" Witness Shadrack Bizimana’s testimony summarised above;'’* Witness XUV’s testimony
that he witnessed the killing of Father Gatore on 13 April 1994;' and a Report of massacres in
Nyundo mentioning that Father Gatore died in April 1994,

64. In assessing this evidence, the Trial Chamber recalled its reservations about the credibility
of Prosecution Witnesses AJZ, AJY, and BKW.!” It also noted that in his prior statements Witness
AJY had not mentioned the identity cards of Gatore and Kabayiza.'” Further, the Trial Chamber
considered that inconsistencies remained among the Prosecution witnesses’ testimonies in relation

to certain incidents which were distinct, but related, to the killing of Father Gatore.'”’

65.  The Appeals Chamber recalls that, as noted by the Trial Chamber, the fact that the Appellant

was outside Rwanda from 4 April to “around 12 June 1994” was not in dispute at trial.'”®

66.  In view of this, the date on which Witness AKK saw the Appellant on the Kivumu-Kayove
road is important. At trial, Witness AKK did not provide a specific date for this incident. He first
testified, during his examination-in-chief, that it occurred in 1994, after the beginning of the
genocide.'” Later, responding to a question from the Bench, he said that he “believe[d] it was in the
month of June 1994”.'®® In doing so, he stated: “[y]ou see, these things happened a long time ago.

But I think that it must have been around June 1994”3

67. During re-examination, Witness AKK was asked whether he had heard of the death of
Father Gatore in June 1994; he replied that “[iJt was in the course of that month that you have
referred to in 1994.”'% In cross-examination, confronted by Lead Counsel with documentary
evidence, Witness AKK disagreed that Father Gatore would have been killed in April 1994.'** The
Appeals Chamber notes that while Witness AKK was uncertain as to the date he saw the Appellant

on the Kivumu-Kayove road, he was adamant that it occurred the day before the death of Father

' Trial Judgement, para. 326.

'"2 See supra fn. 147.

'™ Trial Judgement, para. 333. The Trial Chamber noted that Witness XUV also corroborated the testimony of Witness
Bizimana that Kabayiza was killed in April 1994.

17 Trial Judgement, para. 333, citing Exhibit D111. The Trial Chamber considered this report of limited probative value
“because of the reservations it [had] about its authenticity and chain of custody”.

"% Trial Judgement, para. 328. See also Trial Judgement, paras. 329, 330 and fn. 742 (referring to other sections of the
Trial Judgement).

"6 Trial Judgement, para. 330.

'77 Trial Judgement, paras. 331, 335.

178 Trial Judgement, para. 25. See also Trial Judgement, paras. 22-24.

' Witness AKK, T. 22 September 2006 p. 4.

1% Witness AKK, T. 22 September 2006 p. 6. Responding to the following question from Judge Arrey: “Yes, Witness,
could you tell us when you saw Bikindi going towards Kayove commune, when you said you saw the convey [sic}, can
You give us the dates, or the month or the year?”

¥ Witness AKK, T. 22 September 2006 p- 6.

"2 Witness AKK, T. 22 September 2006 p. 24.
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Gatore and that this latter event occurred in June 1994. The Appeals Chamber further notes that
Witness AKK observed first-hand the Appellant inciting the killing of Tutsis on the Kivumu-
Kayove road:'® whereas, by contrast, he only learned of Father Gatore’s death from the killers who

were boasting about it.'®

68.  The Appeals Chamber recalls that, in general, it is not unreasonable for a Trial Chamber to
accept certain parts of a witness’s testimony and reject others'®® and that a Trial Chamber does not
need to set out in detail why it accepted or rejected particular parts of a witness’s testimony.'87
Here, the Trial Chamber accepted the portion of Witness AKK’s eye-witness testimony as to the
Appellant’s acts on the Kivumu-Kayove road sometime in June 1994, while disregarding the
hearsay part of his testimony as to the time of Father Gatore’s death. The Trial Chamber reached its
conclusion on the evidence of this witness after having considered the credibility challenges made
by the Defence, including those relating to the chronology of the events. It did not find that this
witness lacked credibility as to the chronology, but rather refrained from entering a conviction for
the killing of Father Gatore because it was not persuaded beyond reasonable doubt with respect to

this part of the evidence.

69.  Furthermore, the Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber did not disbelieve Witness
AKK’s account of the murder of Father Gatore, but that it was cautious regarding the date of the
murder and consequently declined to enter a conviction for that crime. The Appeals Chamber sees
no error in this approach. The Trial Chamber was entitled to rely on a portion of Witness AKK’s
testimony, particularly that which was based on his personal observation, while not relying on
another part of his evidence, which was based on hearsay. The Trial Chamber did not make

contradictory findings. Accordingly, the Appellant’s arguments under this head are dismissed.

2. Alleged Error Related to the Finding that the Appellant Incited Killings of Tutsis on his Way

Back from Kayove, Based on Witness AKJ’s Evidence

70. At trial, Witness AKJ testified that the Appellant addressed an MRND rally in Kivumu,

Nyamyumba commune, around 15 May 1993, and exhorted the crowd to kill the “serpents”;188 that

he saw the Appellant again towards the end of June 1994, around 1:30 p.m. or 2:00 p.m., in a

"} Witness AKK, T. 22 September 2006 pp. 15-23.

'** Witness AKK, T. 22 September 2006 pp. 4-6, 8, 9.

'85> Witness AKK, T. 22 September 2006 pp. 15, 24.

'8 Karera Appeal Judgement, para. 88; Seromba Appeal Judgement, para, 110; Simba Appeal Judgement, para. 212;
Blagojevic and Joki¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 82; Kupreskic¢ et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 333. See also Ntagerura et
al. Appeal Judgement, para. 214; Kamuhanda Appeal Judgement, para. 248.

'87 Karera Appeal Judgement, para. 90; Muhimana Appeal Judgement, para. 99; Simba Appeal Judgement, para. 152;
Musema Appeal Judgement, paras. 18-20.

188 Trial Judgement, paras. 134-142, 267.

22
Case No. ICTR-01-72-A /; 18 March 201
- — - S



87S/H

vehicle fitted with loudspeakers, as part of a convoy returning from Kayove and that, at that time,
the Appellant said, “Have you killed the Tutsis here?” and asked whether they had killed the

[ ” 8
‘snakes”.'®

71.  The Appellant submits that the Trial Chamber erred in assessing Witness AKIJ’s
contradictory testimony.'”® He contends that Witness AKJ was led as to the year of the Kayove-
Kivumu road incident by Prosecution Counsel’s suggestion that it happened in 1994."! He submits
that the Trial Chamber should have been more cautious in making its assessment, in view of the
doubt cast on Witness AKJ’s evidence and considering the caution required when convicting an

accused on the basis of a single witness’s testimony.'*>

72.  The Appellant further contends that the Trial Chamber mischaracterized the evidence of
Witness AKJ when it stated that there was “slight confusion” as to the year in which he saw the

Appellant in a vehicle. The Appellant claims that this mischaracterization constituted an error of

1.193

law, amounting to a violation of his right to a fair tria He claims that the contradiction in the

evidence of this witness went beyond “slight confusion” since it amounted to a contradiction on a
fundamental factual element of his case, namely, the circumstances and the year of the event in

194

which the witness saw the Appellant.”” He argues that the Trial Chamber’s finding regarding the

public address incident was “necessarily influenced” by this mischaracterization.'®®

73.  The Prosecution responds that the Appellant’s submissions that the Trial Chamber erred in
assessing the evidence of Witness AKJ is “erroneous and misleading”.'”® According to the
Prosecution, the Trial Chamber’s findings in this respect were based on its assessment of the

d.'”” The Prosecution submits that the record

witness’s overall testimony, which it heard and observe
shows that Witness AKJ was neither confused about the dates nor the events and that, during his
examination-in-chief, he testified that the incident occurred in June 1994."2 It contends that it was

the Defence Co-Counsel who introduced the confusion between the Kivumu Rally in May 1993 and

' Trial Judgement, para. 269.

1% Bikindi’s Notice of Appeal, para. 12; Bikindi's Appellant’s Brief, paras. 13, 16-18, 21-26, 28-30, 37-40.

"1 Bikindi’s Appellant’s Brief, para. 24.

"2 Bikindi’s Appellant’s Brief, para. 17.

'3 Bikindi’s Appellant’s Brief, para. 30, citing Trial Judgement, paras. 136, 274.

' Bikindi's Appellant’s Brief, para. 30.

%3 Bikindi’s Appellant’s Brief, para. 30.

196 prosecution’s Respondent’s Brief, para. 44.

%7 prosecution’s Respondent’s Brief, para. 45.

1% prosecution’s Respondent’s Brief, paras. 33-36, sp. 34, referring to Witness AKJ, T. 20 September 2006 p. 50.
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the incident on the Kayove-Kivumu road in June 1994 during his cross-examination of Witness
AKJ.19

74.  The Appellant replies that the Prosecution conflates “[Co-Counsel]’s confusion on the
month with the witness’s confusion on the year”.zm He avers that the fact that Witness AKJ was
“badly cross-examined [...] should not automatically excuse [the] problems in his evidence.”?"! The
Appellant points out that when Witness AKJ had an opportunity to clarify the year when the convoy
incident took place, he mentioned “1993”.22 He further submits that this confusion raised a

problem with the reliability and credibility of Witness AKJ’s evidence.””?

75. The Appeals Chamber recalls its earlier description in this Judgement of the Trial
Chamber’s assessment of Witness AKJ’s credibility with regard to his testimony on the MRND
rally in Kivumu in 1993 and the Kayove-Kivumu road incident.”* The Appeals Chamber notes that
during the examination-in-chief, Witness AKJ testified that he saw the Appellant for the first time
at an MRND rally in Kivumu in 1993 and the second time in 1994, towards the end of June, at

205

about 1:30 p.m. or 2:00 p.m., in a convoy, in Kivumu.”"~ He provided a detailed account of both

0
events.2 6

76.  During cross-examination, Witness AKJ first stated that the MRND rally in Kivumu was
held around May 1993 and that he could not remember the exact date, but later, reacting to Defence
Co-Counsel’s suggestion that it was on 6 June 1993, he stated “[w]ell, what I have said is that the
rally took place in 1993 in the month of June, but I do not remember the exact date.”®®’ Then,
responding to a question from the Presiding Judge as to whether this event took place on 15 May or
6 June, Witness AKJ stated that he did “not remember the date, the only thing [he could] remember
is the month” 2% It is clear from these exchanges between the Co-Counsel and Witness AKJ during

299 that the confusion as to the date of each event arose as a result of the Co-

the cross-examination
Counsel’s failure to distinguish his questions relating to the first and the second occasion on which

the witness had seen the Appellant. Witness AKJ himself specified that the two events should be

1% Prosecution’s Respondent’s Brief, paras. 34, 35, referring to Witness AKJ, T. 21 September 2006 pp. 18, 19 and
citing Trial Judgement, para. 136. See also Prosecution’s Respondent’s Brief, paras. 46, 47.

20 Bikindi’s Reply’s Brief, para. 18.

2! Bikindi’s Reply’s Brief, para. 18.

202 Bikindi's Reply’s Brief, para. 18, citing Witness AKJ, T. 21 September 2006 lines 24-28 [sic].
203 Bikindi’s Reply’s Brief, paras. 21, 22.

204 See supra paras, 17, 18.

205 Witness AKJ, T. 20 September 2006 pp. 47-50.

206 Witness AKJ, T. 20 September 2006 pp. 47-50.

297 Witness AKJ, T. 21 September 2006 p. 15.

2 Witness AKJ, T. 21 September 2006 p. 15.

2 Witness AKJ, T. 21 September 2006 pp. 15-19.
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differentiated,”'” and it appears from his last statements that he associated seeing the Appellant at
the MRND rally with the June 1993 date.?"!

71. In these circumstances, the Appeals Chamber finds no error in the Trial Chamber’s
assessment of the testimony of Witness AKJ. The Appellant has not demonstrated that no
reasonable trier of fact could have relied on Witness AKJ’s testimony in relation to the Kivumu-
Kayove road incident in June 1994. The Appellant’s contention that the Trial Chamber erred in the

assessment of Witness AKJ’s evidence is therefore dismissed.

3. Alleged Error in Finding that the Testimonies of Witnesses AKK and AKJ Corroborated Each
Other

78.  The Trial Chamber found that the testimonies of Witnesses AKK and AKJ corroborated
each other on key points with regard to the Kivumu-Kayove road incident, despite the fact that the

two witnesses saw the Appellant at different times.!2

79.  The Appellant contends that Witness AKK could not corroborate Witness AKJ as to the date
of the incident’" but rather that